
THE PARISH OF BEDDGELERT:

A Summary

including Impropriators, Queen Anne’s Bounty and Chapel of Ease.

Location:

The large ecclesiastical parish of Beddgelert is unusual for two main reasons. First it extends into three medieval commotes, Eifionydd, Gwyrfai and Ardudwy, and, from 1284 until 1890, was partly in Caernarfonshire and partly in Merioneth, and secondly because the church is not situated in Gwyrfai, the commot containing the largest portion of the parish.

The early Christian community must have been granted permission by the local secular ruler to settle at the confluence of the rivers Glaslyn and Colwyn in the easternmost extremity of Eifionydd, cut off from the remainder of the commot by Aberglaslyn gorge and the Moel Hebog range of mountains. The Christian brethren were probably responsible for the spiritual care of a large, indeterminate district covering much of the heart of Eryri. In the twelfth century, when parishes with fixed boundaries containing their own churches and chapels were established, the brethren continued their work in serving these. Around 1200 prince Llewelyn ap Iorwerth - Llewelyn the Great - granted the whole township of Nanhwynain to the newly-founded Cistercian abbey of Aberconway, thus removing that area from their care. Not long after this, the community at Beddgelert became an Augustinian priory, which seems to have taken over the functions of the old community, for it held not only Beddgelert, but the rectory of Llanfihangel y Pennant, Llanfairisgaer with Betws Garmon, and Dolwyddeln, which together accounted for that same wide tract of country encircling Snowdon on the west and south side. At some period, possibly during the fourteenth century, these and other churches became appropriated to the Augustinian priory. At Beddgelert itself, the priory church would have acted also as a parish church, although there was no parish of Beddgelert at this time, it being monastic land. 

In 1268 prince Llewelyn ap Gruffydd - Llewelyn the Last - granted to the priory a large tract of land surrounding their small nucleus in the valley-bottom. This land was that part of a district of bond land in the otherwise free township of Pennant which had become depopulated and so had fallen into the hands of the prince. This land was bounded by the summit ridge of the Moel Hebog range, extending from the old  Aberglaslyn bridge to the head of the valley of Nant Colwyn, and was called “The Prior’s Land”. This land was in the parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant, and Hafod Ruffydd farm was said in 1556 still to be in that parish. The other farms in the Prior’s Land were Meillionen and Cwm Cloch, along with Cader Ychain situated in Pennardd township in the commot of Gwyfrai.

In 1538, after the dissolution of Bisham Abbey which then possessed the priory of Beddgelert, the Augustinian lands outlined above, together with the former Cistercian grange of Nanhwynain formed the nucleus of a new  parish  of  Beddgelert,  using  the 
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former priory church as a parish church. The hamlet of Nanmor, in the commote of Ardudwy, in the county of Merioneth, said to have been formerly part of the parish of Llanfait-iuxta-Harlech, became part of the parish of Beddgelert at an unknown date. People from Nanmor were being buried in the churchyard from the late seventeenth century. In 1895 Nanmor was moved from Merioneth to become part of Caernarfonshire, thus placing the whole parish within the one county.

The hamlet of Oerddwr, in the township of Pennant and commote of Eifionydd, was removed from the parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant and was added to the parish of Beddgelert at an unknown date, probably soon after the Reformation.

The township of Drws y Coed, in the commote of Gwyrfai, including Talmignedd farm, was in Beddgelert parish from 1777-1799 according to the Vaynol estate papers. It then appears from the Land Tax Assessments to have been part of the parish of Betws Garmon from 1785 to 1820. Drws y Coed, including the copper mines, seems to have again been part of the parish of Beddgelert from 1820, and is described as such by Jenkins in 1899. In the 1960s Drws y Coed became part of Betws Garmon parish, and Talmignedd was at some  stage assigned to Llanllyfni parish.

The township of Llwynllinor, also in the commote of Gwyrfai, was in the parish of Beddgelert in 1793 according to the Clogwin y Gwin entry in the Meillionydd estate papers. It then appears from the Land Tax Assessments to have been part of the parish of Betws Garmon from 1785 to 1820. The northern portion then remained with Betws Garmon, whilst the portion including Clogwin y Gwin, Ffridd isaf and Ffridd uchaf  farms, and containing the later hamlet of Rhyd Ddu, became part of Beddgelert parish and was described as such by Jenkins in 1899. In the 1960s Llwynllinor  township comprising Clogwin y Gwyn, Fridd Isaf and ffridd Uchaf, became part of Betws Garmon parish. The northwest boundary of Beddgelert parish follows the Afon Colwyn down to the bridge over the main road, and then runs along the boundary of the Forestry Commission land to the summit of Mynydd Drws y Coed.

At present, the earliest reference to the parish of Beddgelert is in a Tax Return dated 1543. In 1561 it was recorded as being in the Archdeanery of Merioneth and the Deanery of Eifionydd, but the new parish may have been formed in the late 1530s. The Rector of Llanfrothen, the large neighbouring and then populous parish in Ardudwy, ministered at Beddgelert. There is an indictment in 1569 against the curate and churchwardens of Beddgelert parish for failing to elect officials to collect alms for the relief of paupers.

Lay Impropriators:

The spiritualities of the priory - the appropriated churches and chapels -  were claimed by the Crown at the Reformation. In 1577 the rectories of Beddgelert, Llanfihangell y Pennant, Llanfairisgaer with Betws Garmon chapel, Abererch with Penrhos chapel and Dolwyddelan chapel in Caernarfonshire and the rectories of Llanidan, Llanedwyn, Llanddaniel-fab and Llanfair y Cwmmwd in Anglesey were leased by the Crown to Owen ap Robert Owen of Llaneugrad, Anglesey.  By  1612  all 

those rectories in Caernarfonshire had  passed  to  Thomas  Bodfel  of  Bodfel  on  his 
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marriage to Katheren, daughter and heiress of Owen ap Robert Owen.

The Bodfel family thus became the lay impropriators of Beddgelert church, possessing the patronage of the living and received the great tithes. Such impropriators could raise the stipend, strip the church of popery or secure family interests. In 1623 it was noted that Sir John Bodfel may not place a curate without the diocesan’s leave and approbation.

It is not known whether the church remained in use during the Commonwealth from 1649 to 1660, but the same vicar was at Llanfrothen before and after this period. Around 1685 the rectories of Beddgelert and Llanfair were granted by King Charles II to a Sir Robert Holmes. There was then a curate at Beddgelert, under the Vicar of Llanfrothen. Records of the visitations of the Archdeacon commence in 1711. In 1721 the Rt Hon Charles Bodville, Earl of Radnor, who was the great great grandson of Sir John Bodfel, leased the possession of the rectories of the former priory appropriations in Caernarfonshire including Beddgelert; he died in 1723 without heirs. 

In 1735 the possession of the rectory and tithe of Beddgelert was leased to Maurice Wynn, of Hafodgregog, an influential landowner in the parish who died in 1739. By 1743 his widow held them for her daughter and heir Jane Wynne. In 1751 all tithes, oblations, offerings, rents and pensions belonging to the rectories appropriated by the former priory in Caernarfonshire were owned by Thomas Wilson, Gent. But in 1756 Jane Wynne possessed the rectory and tithes of Beddgelert. In 1759 she married Zaccheus Hughes of Trefan, but her marriage was declared void in 1808 and the estate went to a relation, Mary, wife of Samuel Priestley of Leeds and thereby of Trefan. In 1787 the patron paid the curate £8 per annum only, whilst receiving about £80 from the tithes. From 1800 to 1863 the Beddgelert clergy were licensed as perpetual curates. 

By 1811 Beddgelert was in the patronage of Mrs Priestley, of Trefan, and in 1830 she added £10 to the curate‘s £8 stipend. In 1839 the tithes were commuted to monetary value and Mrs Priestley received £130 instead of tithes. In 1840 Mrs Priestley granted the advowson and right of presentation to the church of Beddgelert, together with the tithes to her second son, John Priestley of Hirdrefaig, Anglesey. 

In 1863 the perpetual curacy of Beddgelert was finally separated from the parish of Llanfrothen, due to the patronage of John Priestley who died in 1881. In 1879 the first vicar of Beddgelert was appointed. By 1898 the patron was John Priestley’s grandson John Francis Lloyd Priestley. Major J O J Priestley, and his son Mr S P L Priestley of Dolfriog were then patrons. In 1920, on the disestablishment of the Church in Wales, patronage ceased to exist. It had therefore been in the gift of only two families for almost four hundred years, the Bodfels until 1735 and then Wynn and Priestley family with close links with Beddgelert.

By 1991 the falling population, church attendance and lack of clergy resulted in Beddgelert becoming part of a combined parish including Llanfrothen and Penrhyndeudraeth. In 2003 the parish of Maentrwog was added to the duties of the Vicar who resides in Penrhyndeudraeth.

Queen Anne Bounty:

This money was made available  from  1704.  In  1740  the  stipend  of  the  curacy  of 
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Beddgelert was first augmented with the sum of £200. This was again augmented by £200 in 1757. In 1764 these monies were used to purchase around 400 acres of the southern part of Ucheldre farm, Llanflewyn parish, Anglesey, and the annual rent received augmented the stipend of the curate. In 1787 the rent was £20 p.a., it was £50 by 1808 and £60 in 1851. 

In 1787 and 1790 two further £200 grants had been received and in 1814 Llwynbedw Uchaf farm in the parish of Clynnog was purchased. In 1821 it was let at £13 p.a. and for £15 in 1851.

In 1849 land was purchased and by 1852 a vicarage was built in Beddgelert from Queen Anne Bounty grants and other local donations. Grants and loans from the Queen Anne Bounty also paid for later repairs to the farms and vicarage.

Both the farms would have been sold after the disestablishment of the Church in Wales in 1920.

Chapel of Ease:

A chapel was situated in the medieval township of Nanhwynain where the Afon Celyn flows into Llyn Gwynant and where the medieval trackway leaves the Gwynant valley for the coast at Traeth Mawr via the Nanmor valley . There is a tradition of a chapel being founded by Madoc ap Owain Gwynedd around 1170 before he sailed for America. However it is more likely that the chapel was built by the Cistercians of Aberconway after the township of Nanhwynain had been granted to them around 1200 by prince Llewelyn ap Iorwerth. It would have served all those living and working on their grange as the Abbey itself would have been too far away.

It was said that after the Reformation the chapel fell into disrepair and in the early seventeenth century was rebuilt - or built - by Sir John Williams of Hafodlwyfog, and he, or his relation Sir John Wynne of Gwydir, gave £5 annually to pay for Beddgelert clergy as a stipend to hold services in Capel Nanhwynain, and that his name was inscribed on the bell. Prior to 1627 Sir John Wynne paid the Beddgelert curate “four marks for taking service in his chapel there”. The chapel was standing in 1693 and services were held  into the eighteenth century. 

By 1776 it was described as “an old ruinated chapel called Capel Gwynant in which no divine service is performed”. Most of the serviceable articles were carried down to Beddgelert and in 1806 the “ruins of a small ancient chapel within a small walled yard” were recorded.

In 1832 the Parochial Church Council ordered the cutting down and sale of ash trees on the ground where Capel Gwynant stood. In 1834 it was agreed that James Wyatt, the owner of the surrounding land, exchange a portion of his land for the equivalent amount of Capel Gwynant land; this may be associated with the adjacent turnpike road, or with the building of the nearby house called Hen Capel.

In 1877 the Parochial Church Council again authorised the cutting down of trees in the old chapel site, with the sale money to be put towards purchasing a hearse. In 1878 it was agreed to sell the 20 perches of land to James Wyatt Esq of Bryn Gwynant for £200, which was to be divided equally between the parishioners and the Vicar. This was the conclusion of the 700 years existence of this chapel, although the walled yard is still visible from the main road.

A detailed account giving all references to this chapel will be deposited with the Vicar of Beddgelert.

Ref: Bchurch parish 
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LANDS OWNED BY THE PRIORY OF BEDDGERLERT:

A Summary

In 1536 when the priory of Beddgelert was granted to Cherstey Abbey, un-named lands  in numerous parishes are recorded as belonging to the priory. After the dissolution in 1538 of Bisham Abbey, of which Cherstey Abbey and Beddgelert priory were then a part, all these lands reverted to the Crown and, in 1541, became part of the divorce settlement  received by Anne of Cleves.  Later they again reverted to the Crown, which sold the former Beddgelert priory lands in the 1570s, and they eventually came into the hands of various local Welsh gentry families. The details of many of the estates are available in the local archive offices or from the authors.

1. IN BEDDGELERT PARISH

i) THE  PRIORY  DESMESNE
Approx. National Grid Reference SH 590480

The lands immediately surrounding and to the south west of the priory church and conventual’s buildings had been extended by a grant from prince Llewelyn the Last in 1268. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. They were sold by the Crown in 1573, and by 1585 had been purchased by John Wynn Morys, a younger brother of the Clenennau family. The holding became the nucleus of a Welsh family estate owning the west part of the later Beddgelert village, and was sold in 1876. 

ii) THE  PRIOR’S  LAND

Approx. NGR SH 560510 -585475

This land extended north along the west bank of Afon Colwyn and Afon Cwm Du and then up to and along the watershed of Moel Hebog and its outliers, finally returning down the watershed to the Afon Glaslyn by the old Aberglaslyn bridge, upstream of the present bridge. It had been granted to the priory in 1268 by Llewelyn the Last. The last prior had leased out much of the land in the early 1500s. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. Crown leases survive from 1573, and gradually the constituent farms - Cwmcloch, Meillionen, Hafod Ruffydd and Cader yr Ychen - were acquired by different estates, each with its own history.

2. IN  LLANFIHANGEL  Y  PENNANT  PARISH.

i) YMWLCH 



Approx. NGR SH 512415

It is not known when in the thirteenth century this land, situated south east of Dolbenmaen church, in a detached portion of the parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant,  was granted to the priory. It was taken from the priory in 1268, in return for the Prior’s land in the charter of prince Llewelyn the Last, and therefore no longer formed part of the history of the priory.

ii) PENNANT GWERNORGAN

Some lands in Pennant Gwernorgan, which has not been identified,  had been granted to the priory  by  prince  Dafydd  ap  Llewelyn  (1240-1246).  Apparently  these  lands 
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belonged to Tudur ap Madoc, to which the prince had no right; this occasioned a suit in 1289 between the sons of Tudur and Philip, Prior of the House, at Caernarvon, when a verdict was given against the convent. The holding therefore ceased to belong to the priory of Beddgelert.

iii) LLECHEIDIOR


Approx. NGR SH 470440

It is not known when the holdings in this detached portion of the township of Pennant and parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant was granted to the priory. A grange in Llecheidior and Pennant is listed in the 1292 Taxation of Pope Nicholas IV.

In 1512 Rhys ap Ieuan of Hendre Cenin received a lease from David Conway, the last Prior of Beddgelert, of certain lands belonging to the priory in the parish of Llanfihangell y Pennant. These lands were Bwlch Gwyn and Pant Ddreiniog in Cenin Fynydd, lying at the southern end of the hill above and adjoining Hendre Cenin.  

In 1552  his grandson, aged 13 years, Lewis ap Ieuan ap Rhys's guardian was involved in a case before the Court of Augmentations over the lease which still had 40 years left to run. The Crown therefore honoured the lease, probably till its expiry in 1592. In 1631 both holdings were bond land, neither belonging to Lewis' descendents. The

iv) LAND  OF  CYNNDDELW  LLWYD  OF  PENNANT 
Prior to 1240 Llewelyn Fawr granted to Beddgelert  'all the land of Cynddelw Llwyd of Pennant'. This was probably land in the large free township of Pennant in Eifionydd, where the priory was situated in its easternmost corner. Several small pieces of lands in Pennant belonged to the priory at its dissolution, but the location of this holding has not been identified.

v) LANDS  IN  PENNANT

This land was granted to the priory by the Lord David, probably Dafydd ap Llewelyn who ruled Gwynedd (1240-46), but possibly by prince Dafydd ap Gruffydd (1256-74).

1) lands of Adoer in Pennant:

2) lands of Tegwared fab Gwair of Pennant: Gwely Gwair, one of the free gwely listed in the Record of Caernarfon in 1352 for the township of Pennant with hamlet of Llecheiddior, was named after Gair. Tegwared fab Gwair may have been his son, and that some of their lands may have been in Cwm Ystradllyn, where the priory holdings were situated. 

3) which they had of Iorwerth fab yr Offeiriad and 

4) Scornal in Pennant .

Two of these four (or the above grant of Cynddelw Llwyd)  were later known as the farms of Tir y Prior, later Traian in Cwm Ystradllyn, and Maes y llech in Pennant. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. 

TRAIAN: 



Approx. NGR SH 546440

The lease on this land, known as Tir y Prior, was inherited about 1525 by Robert ap Einion from his uncle Meredudd. The land became crown land under the statute for the dissolution of the monasteries, but the Crown continued to honour the lease in force by grant of the last prior. Around 1570 Robert's grandson, Hugh ap John ap Robert married a daughter of Richard ap Elise, of Clenennau, who was  the  tenant  of 
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Tir y Prior. In 1573 Tir y Prior, named as Braich y Bib, and held by Richard ap Elise, was sold by the Crown to Lord Cheney, who passed it on to John Salisbury. He sold it in 1575 to Cadwaladr ap Meredudd of Y Wenallt in Nanhwynain. In 1582 Hugh ap John ap Robert succeeded in completing the consolidation of his lands around Braich y Bib by the purchase of Tir y Prior from Cadwaladr’s son, Thomas ap Cadwaladr of Glasfryn Fawr. Later the Braich y Bib family married into the Trefan family whose members became the impropriators of Beddgelert church.

MAES Y LLECH:


Approx. NGR SH 563427

At an early period a part of the lands north of Llyn Du had become escheat and fallen into the hands of the princes of Wales; by one of them it was given to the religious community at Beddgelert. When parishes and townships were laid out  in the twelfth century this land belonging to the monks was made into a detached portion of the parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant and the township of Pennant, in which district the rest of their land lay, and it had the general name of Maes y llech. In 1536, when the monastic land was taken by the Crown, Elise's son Moris, was tenant of Maes y llech by a lease from the Prior of Beddgelert. In 1573 Morus ap Elissa was still the tenant. The holding is again mentioned in 1614.

About 1574 it was bought by William Maurice's brother, John Wyn, who entailed it under the names of Llaeth Fynydd and Yr Ynys Ddreiniog. Later it was sold to Clenennau with the exception of a small part near the lake, afterwards called Cae Tindew, which went to the Brynkir estate. Clenennau rearranged the boundaries to make the modern farms of Ereiniog, Ynys Wen, Caeau Gwynion and Maes y llech. 

3. IN ABERERCH PARISH
Approx. NGR SH 394364

It is not known when the land holding, now called Prior, situated to the west of the church was granted to the priory. It is named in the 1291 Taxation of Pope Nicolas IV when the produce from bees - honey and wax for candles - is valued. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. In the 1573 sale by the Crown of the priory lands this holding is named as Tyddyn y Meirch - the Horses’ farm; the tenant was Margaret Conway, widow and the rent was 5s 4d. In the sale in 1575 the holding was called Tyddyn y wenith - the wheat farm. These names may echo the uses to which the land was put. By 1596 in a post-nuptual settlement it is called Tyddyn y Prior, possibly as a recognition of its former status. In the early 1600s it was bought by Humffrey Jones of Craflwyn, Beddgelert, later the Receiver General of North Wales. His descendants sold the farm in 1773 and it then became part of the local Broom Hall estate.

4. IN DOLWYDDELAN PARISH
Approx. NGR SH 735523

In 1268 prince Llewelyn the Last exchanged some lands of the priory when granting new lands nearer the priory. Amongst land returned to the prince was “all the lands of their church at Dolwyddelan beyond the ditch of the meadow land near the said township”. It is nor known where these lands were situated.
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In 1352 Gafael y mynach was part of the township and presumably its name - the monks’ holding - infers that this was the land remaining with the priory. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. In the 1573 sale by the Crown of the priory lands this holding is unnamed, but the tenant, Morus Wynn, was of the Gwydir family. In 1617 the land formerly that of the prior was amongst the freehold land recorded on a rent-roll by Sir John Wynn of Gwydir. However its location has not yet been identified.

5. IN LLANFAIR IS GAER PARISH


It is not known when land within Llanfair is gaer parish was granted to the priory. Due to its distance from the priory it may have provided for the immediate needs of the priests living there and serving that parish. It may also have been a place where those waiting to cross the Menai to the priory lands there could wait for a ferry and appropriate tides. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. In the 1573 sale by the Crown of the priory lands this holding of two acres is unnamed, but the tenant, Morus Wynn, was of the Gwydir family. The Wynn family leased and owned lands in the parish, including Crug and Plas Llanfair. The location of this holding has not yet been positively identified, but within the Plas Llanfair land, the 1839 Tithe map names the field north-east of the church as Church field. This may be merely due to its proximity, but could echo the earlier ownership of the holding.

6. IN LLANIDAN PARISH

Approx. NGR SH 465665 and 465717

In Anglesey the priory held the township of Tre'r-beirdd and the hamlet of Berw Isaf in Menai. This was probably granted between 1246-1255 by prince Owain Gruffydd, the brother of prince Llewelyn ap Gruffydd. 

In 1360 a lease of priory land  is made using  descriptions and boundaries which have not yet been interpreted within the present landscape. One area in the township of Berw was leased by an ancestor of the Plas Berw family and mentions Ynys y Meirch on the lowlands of Corsdygay, now called Malltraeth.

Another area in the township/hamlet of Tre’r Beirdd mentioned in 1360 was  near Trefarthen, which is still a major farm. 1n 1372 a separate lease in the same area names the neighbours, but again this holding currently defies identification. In 1438 un-named lands in the township of Llannaden are noted as being held by the Prior of Beddgelert. In 1535 the valuable glebe land associated with Lanidan church was recorded, and again after the Dissolution of the priory un-named vills and fields are noted in 1536, 1573 and 1582. In 1575 two tenements called Tythyn Adda ap David and Tythyn y Prior in the township of Tre’r beirdd were sold to Roland Meredydd of Bodowyr, Anglesey. In 1614 eleven farms and nine holdings are named in the township, but of these only Tyddyn y Prior and Tyddyn Adda have so far been correlated with modern farm names. Local Welsh gentry purchased the remaining priory lands; the later history is still being unravelled.
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FARMS PURCHASED WITH QUEEN ANNE BOUNTY:

A Summary

1. UCHELDREF UCHAF in the parish of Llanfflewin, Anglesey. NGR SH 349875

The southern part of this 130 acre farm was purchased in 1764 with a £400 grant, £200 being granted in both 1740 and 1757, from the Governors of the Bounty of Queen Anne, for the augmentation of the maintenance of the poor clergy. In 1808 the rent of £50 p.a. augmented the salary of the curate of Beddgelert. The annual rent was £52-10-0 in the depression of 1821, but was £60 by 1849. In 1879 repair work was undertaken; the rent was then £70 p.a. Further repairs were made in 1898. The date of sale after the 1920 disestablishment of the Church in Wales is not known.

2. LLWYN BEDW UCHAF in the parish of Clynnog. 

NGR SH 457503

This farm of over 28 acres was purchased in 1814 with a £400 grant, £200 being granted in both 1787 and 1790, from the Governors of the Bounty of Queen Anne, for the augmentation of the maintenance of the poor clergy. In 1817 the rent of £18 p.a. augmented the salary of the curate of Beddgelert. This rent fell to £13 in 1821 due to the low state of the market. In 1843 seven acres of mountain land were allotted to the farm as part of the Clynnog Enclosure Award. In 1849 and 1879 the rent was £15 p.a. Repair work was undertaken in 1879 and in 1898. Following the 1920 disestablishment of the Church in Wales, Llwynbedw uchaf was sold in 1922 for £800 to John Griffith Jones, Glanrafon House, Trevor. Owen Jones was the yearly tenant.

Ref: Bchurch.holdings
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